
1

Democratic Services
White Cliffs Business Park
Dover
Kent  CT16 3PJ

Telephone: (01304) 821199
Fax: (01304) 872452
DX: 6312
Minicom: (01304) 820115
Website: www.dover.gov.uk
e-mail: democraticservices

@dover.gov.uk

27 November 2019

Dear Councillor

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held 
in the Council Chamber at these Offices on Thursday 5 December 2019 at 6.00 pm when 
the following business will be transacted. 

Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Kate Batty-Smith 
on (01304) 872303 or by e-mail at democraticservices@dover.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Chief Executive 

Planning Committee Membership:

J S Back (Chairman)
R S Walkden (Vice-Chairman)
D G Beaney
E A Biggs
T A Bond
J P J Burman
D G Cronk
D P Murphy
O C de R Richardson
H M Williams

AGENDA

1   APOLOGIES  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  

To note appointments of Substitute Members.

Public Document Pack



2

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Page 4)

To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda. 

4   MINUTES  

To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 7 November 2019 
(to follow).

5   ITEMS DEFERRED (Page 5)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Development.

ITEMS WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING 
(Pages 6-9)

6   APPLICATION NO DOV/19/00291 - 337 FOLKESTONE ROAD, DOVER (Pages 
10-18)

Change of use from dwelling-house to House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
for up to nine people (sui generis)

To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Development.

7   APPLICATION NO DOV/19/01131 - OLD TRACTOR SHED, LANGDON AVENUE, 
ASH (Pages 19-29)

Change of use and conversion into a residential dwelling, with associated 
works

To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Development.

8   APPLICATION NO DOV/19/00969 - 50 MILL LANE, SHEPHERDSWELL (Pages 
30-36)

Extension to stable block and installation of six 3-metre lighting columns

To consider the attached report of the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Development.

ITEMS WHICH ARE NOT SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING 

9   APPEALS AND INFORMAL HEARINGS  

To receive information relating to Appeals and Informal Hearings, and appoint 
Members as appropriate.

10   ACTION TAKEN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ORDINARY DECISIONS 



3

(COUNCIL BUSINESS) URGENCY PROCEDURE  

To raise any matters of concern in relation to decisions taken under the above 
procedure and reported on the Official Members' Weekly News.

Access to Meetings and Information

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information.

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber.

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes will be published on our website as soon as 
practicably possible after each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are 
available for public inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Kate Batty-Smith, 
Democratic Services Officer, telephone: (01304) 872303 or email: 
democraticservices@dover.gov.uk for details.

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request.



Declarations of Interest

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI)

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting.

Other Significant Interest (OSI)

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules.

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI)

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration.

Note to the Code: 

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI.

4

Agenda Item No 3



   

DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF PLANNING, REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT

PLANNING COMMITTEE – 5 DECEMBER 2019

CONSIDERATION OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS HAS BEEN
DEFERRED AT PREVIOUS MEETINGS

Members of the Planning Committee are asked to note that the following 
application(s) have been deferred at previous meetings.  Unless specified, these 
applications are   not for determination at the meeting since the reasons for their 
deferral have not yet been resolved.   

1. DOV/19/00669 Outline application for the erection of thirty-four 
dwellings and means of access with associated 
landscaping (appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale reserved) – Land between numbers 107 and 
127 Capel Street, Capel-le-Ferne (Agenda Item 7 of 
10 October 2019)

            

Background Papers:

Unless otherwise stated, the appropriate application file, the reference of which is 
stated.

LOIS JARRETT
Head of Planning, Regeneration and Development

The Officer to whom reference should be made concerning inspection of the background papers is Alice 
Fey, Planning Support and Land Charges Manager, Planning Department, Council Offices, White Cliffs 
Business Park, Dover (Tel: 01304 872468).

5

Agenda Item No 5



APPLICATIONS WHICH MAY BE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING

The Reports

The file reference number, a description of the proposal and its location are identified under 
a) of each separate item. The relevant planning policies and guidance and the previous 
planning history of the site are summarised at c) and d) respectively. 

The views of third parties are set out at e); the details of the application and an appraisal of 
the proposal are set out at f) and each item concludes with a recommendation at g).

Additional information received prior to the meeting will be reported verbally. In some
circumstances this may lead to a change in the recommendation.

Details of the abbreviated standard conditions, reasons for refusal and informatives may be 
obtained from the Planning Support Team Supervisor (Tel: 01304 872468).

It should be noted, in respect of points raised by third parties in support of or objecting to 
applications, that they are incorporated in this report only if they concern material planning 
considerations.

Each item is accompanied by a plan (for identification purposes only) showing the location of 
the site and the Ordnance Survey Map reference.

Site Visits

All requests for site visits will be considered on their merits having regard to the likely 
usefulness to the Committee in reaching a decision.

The following criteria will be used to determine usefulness:

 The matter can only be safely determined after information has been acquired 
directly from inspecting this site;

 There is a need to further involve the public in the decision-making process as a 
result of substantial local interest, based on material planning considerations, in the 
proposals;

 The comments of the applicant or an objector cannot be adequately expressed in 
writing because of age, infirmity or illiteracy.

The reasons for holding a Committee site visit must be included in the minutes.

Background Papers

Unless otherwise stated, the background papers will be the appropriate file in respect of 
each application, save any document which discloses exempt information within the 
meaning of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

The Officer to whom reference should be made concerning inspection of the background 
papers is Alice Fey, Planning Support Team Supervisor, Planning Department, Council 
Offices, White Cliffs Business Park, Whitfield, Dover CT16 3PJ (Tel: 01304 872468).

6



IMPORTANT

The Committee should have regard to the following preamble during its consideration of all 
applications on this agenda

1. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires that, in dealing with an 
application for planning permission, the local planning authority shall have regard to the 
provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other 
material considerations.

2. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that: ‘If regard is to 
be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to be made under the 
Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise’.

3. Planning applications which are in accordance with the relevant policies in the Development Plan 
should be allowed and applications which are not in accordance with those policies should not 
be allowed unless material considerations justify granting of planning permission. In deciding 
such applications, it should always be taken into account whether the proposed development 
would cause demonstrable harm to interests of acknowledged importance. In all cases where the 
Development Plan is relevant, it will be necessary to decide whether the proposal is in 
accordance with the Plan and then to take into account material considerations.

4. In effect, the following approach should be adopted in determining planning applications:

(a) if the Development Plan contains material policies or proposals and there are no other 
material considerations, the application should be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan;

(b) where there are other material considerations, the Development Plan should be taken as 
the starting point and the other material considerations should be weighed in reaching a 
decision;

(c) where there are no relevant policies in the Development Plan, the planning application 
should be determined on its merits in the light of all material considerations; and

(d)  exceptionally, a development proposal which departs from the Development Plan may be 
permitted because the contribution of that proposal to some material, local or national need 
or objective is so significant that it outweighs what the Development Plan says about it.

5. Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that, in 
considering planning applications for development affecting a listed building or its setting, special 
regard shall be had to the desirability of preserving the building, its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historical interest which it possesses. Section 72 requires that special 
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of conservation areas when considering any applications affecting land or buildings within them. 
Section 16 requires that, when considering applications for listed building consent, special regard 
shall be had to the desirability of preserving the listed building, its setting, or features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it has.

6. Section 38(6) of the 2004 Act does not apply to the determination of applications for 
advertisement  consent, listed building consent or conservation area consent. Applications for 
advertisement consent can be controlled only in the interests of amenity and public safety. 
However, regard must be had to policies in the Development Plan (as material considerations) 
when making such determinations.

The Development Plan

7. The Development Plan in Dover District is comprised of:

Dover District Core Strategy 2010
Dover District Land Allocations Local Plan 2015
Dover District Local Plan 2002 (saved policies)

    Worth Neighbourhood Development Plan (2015)
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2016

7



Human Rights Act 1998

During the processing of all applications and other items and the subsequent preparation of 
reports and recommendations on this agenda, consideration has been given to the 
implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in relation to both applicants and other parties 
and whether there would be any undue interference in the Convention rights of any person 
affected by the recommended decision.

The key articles are:-

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.  There shall 
be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except such as is in 
accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the interests of national 
security, public safety or the economic well being of the country, for the prevention of 
disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedoms of others.

Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right of the individual to the peaceful enjoyment of his 
possessions.  No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest and 
subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of international 
law.

Account may also be taken of:-

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial and public trial within a reasonable time.

Article 10 - Right to free expression.

Article 14 - Prohibition of discrimination.

The Committee needs to bear in mind that its decision may interfere with the rights of 
particular parties, particularly under Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol.  The decision 
should be a balanced one and taken in the wider public interest, as reflected also in planning 
policies and other material considerations.

(PTS/PLAN/GEN)  HUMANRI

8



PUBLIC SPEAKING AT PLANNING COMMITTEE

1. The scheme for public speaking at Planning Committee only concerns matters 
relating to the determination of individual applications for planning permission 
contained in the Planning Committee agenda and not to other matters such as Tree 
Preservation Orders or Enforcement. 

2. The scheme for public speaking will apply at each meeting where an individual 
application for planning permission is considered by the Planning Committee.

3. Any person wishing to speak at the Planning Committee should submit a written 
request using this form and indicate clearly whether the speaker is in favour of, or 
opposed to, the planning application. 

4. The form must be returned to Democratic Support no later than two working days 
prior to the meeting of the Planning Committee.

5. Speaking opportunities will be allocated on a first come, first served basis but with 
the applicant being given first chance of supporting the scheme.  Applicants or 
agents will be notified of requests to speak.  Third parties who have applied to speak 
will be notified of other requests only when these directly affect their application to 
speak.  The names, addresses and telephone numbers of people who wish to speak 
may be given to other people who share their views and have expressed a wish to 
address the Committee. The identified speaker may defer to another at the discretion 
of the Chairman of the Committee.

6. One person will be allowed to speak in favour of, and one person allowed to speak 
against, each application.  The maximum time limit will be three minutes per speaker.  
This does not affect a person’s right to speak at a site visit if the Committee decides 
one should be held.

7. Public speakers will not be permitted to distribute photographs or written documents 
at the Committee meeting.

8. The procedure to be followed when members of the public address the Committee 
will be as follows:

(a) Chairman introduces item.
(b) Planning Officer updates as appropriate.
(c) Chairman invites the member of the public and Ward Councillor(s) to speak, 

with the applicant or supporter last.
(d) Planning Officer clarifies as appropriate.
(e) Committee debates the application.
(f) The vote is taken.

9. In addition to the arrangements outlined in paragraph 6 above, District Councillors 
who are not members of the Committee may be permitted to address the Planning 
Committee for three minutes in relation to planning applications in their Ward.  This is 
subject to giving formal notice of not less than two working days and advising 
whether they are for or against the proposals.   In the interests of balance, a further 
three minutes’ representation on the contrary point of view will be extended to the 
identified or an additional speaker.  If other District Councillors wish to speak, having 
given similar notice and with the agreement of the Chairman, this opportunity will be 
further extended as appropriate.

10. Agenda items will be taken in the order listed.

11. The Chairman may, in exceptional circumstances, alter or amend this procedure as 
deemed necessary. 9



10

Agenda Item No 6



a) DOV/19/00291 – Change of use from dwelling- house to House of Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) for up to 9 people (sui generis) - 337 Folkestone Road, 
Dover

Reason for report: Number of contrary views.

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be granted.

c) Planning Policies and Guidance

Core Strategy (CS) Policies

 DM1 - Development will be permitted within the settlement boundaries 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF)

 Section 5 is relevant as it seeks the delivery of a sufficient supply of 
homes, including the size, type and tenure of housing need for different 
groups in the community. 

 Section 8 is relevant as it seeks to promote healthy and safe 
communities through social interaction, including opportunities for 
meetings between people who might not otherwise come into contact 
with each other and through providing safe and accessible places.

 Section 12 is relevant as the proposal should seek to achieve well-
designed places ensuring that development will function well and add 
to the overall quality of an area, be sympathetic to local character and 
history and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and 
which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity 
for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the 
fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 
and resilience.  

The Kent Design Guide (KDG)

 The Guide provides criteria and advice on providing well designed 
development that takes into account context.

National Design Guide 2019

 This Guide provides detail and advice on how to achieve well-designed 
places as required by the NPPF.  In this case, relevant to the 
determination of the application is the need to ensure that communities 
have a mix of home tenures and that communities are socially inclusive.

d) Relevant Planning History

17/00806 – Granted, for a Lawful Development Certificate for the continued 
use of the building and land as a single dwelling house and garden.   The 
decision on this LDC application confirmed that in July 2017 the building had 
been in use as a single family dwelling-house for at least 4 years.  The evidence 

11



suggested that the dwelling house use commenced in 2006.  Prior to 2006, the 
building had been used as a care home following planning permission granted 
in 1982.  Prior to 1982, the building had been in use as a guest house. 

e) Consultee and Third-Party Responses

Town Council: Objections are raised on the negative impact on the amenity of 
current residents, family homes and pressure on local resources. The site is 
considered to be located within an area of special need as evidenced by 
‘Folkestone Road Hub’.

Environmental Health Officer: Has no observations.

Tree Officer: There is a tree within the front garden of the property close to its 
eastern boundary.  The location of the tree means that there is no obvious 
conflict with the use of the area for car parking and its root protection area is 
already enveloped in hard surfacing. 

Housing Options Team: The Council and the applicant have been working 
together to identify solutions for homeless households and provide temporary 
accommodation within Dover.  There continues to be an increasing demand for 
high quality and well managed schemes to address the identified housing need.  
The applicant already forms a key part of how the Council discharges its 
homelessness duty through the provision of temporary accommodation, and 
has repeatedly demonstrated high quality management of their portfolio. The 
bookings the Council will likely place at the scheme will be low need and very 
typically not car owners.

Private Sector Housing Manager: The property would provide an acceptable 
HMO under the Housing Act for use by homeless persons.  An HMO Licence 
has not yet been made…It would be difficult to control anti-social behaviour 
through a Licence.  HMO licencing is about providing decent and safe 
accommodation to the occupiers and not about the HMO’s impact on the wider 
community.

Police/Crime Prevention: Views Awaited 

Public Representations: There have been 20 responses received from the 
public consultation exercise, from 17 different respondents, all of which raise 
objections to the application.  Some of the responses have been made as the 
property is (and has been) in use (with up to 4 bedrooms in use) since 
approximately April 2019 and these responses relate to specific incidents. The 
objections are summarised as follows:

 Ten lettable rooms would be too many for the property
 The use gives rise to anti-social behaviour and noise and disturbance
 There are already a high number of vulnerable people in the area
 There is and will be a lack of support for the tenants
 Local people feel intimidated and have a fear of crime
 There needs to be sufficient and specific parking identified on site

Dover Society: Concerned with the lack of suitable controls over HMOs, and 
the ensuing problems with traffic and parking, anti-social behaviour, poor or no 
management of refuse collection and the general deterioration of buildings, 

12



land and the built environment.  In this case, it is noted that local residents have 
already been affected by anti-social behaviour and there is a concern that local 
Dover-based people would not benefit from the accommodation. 

f) 1. The Site and the Proposal  

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

The application property comprises a two-storey detached building, with 
a single storey rear extension. The building was probably built in the late 
19th Century and is finished in multi stock brickwork under a slate roof.  
The building has a main entrance door located in the centre of the front 
of the building, behind a recently constructed porch, with a side access 
leading to a side door to the building and a shortened rear garden area.  
The front garden area has been laid with tarmac and is used for car 
parking.  The rear garden area has been fenced-off close to the building 
so that the main rear section of the garden can only be accessed from 
Churchill Road, to the rear. There is no gate between the sectioned off 
areas and so the occupiers of the building would not be able to access 
that area.

On the eastern side of the application site boundary is Maxton Court, 
which is a three-storey block of flats.  It too has a side access but this is 
wider to accommodate vehicle access and parking within a small 
courtyard behind the block.  There are windows in the side elevation of 
Maxton Court, two on each floor level (6 in total).  Three of these 
windows appear as obscure glazed.

The application building has already been sub-divided and its layout is 
as set out on the submitted floor plans.  On the ground floor there are 
four bedrooms, a shared kitchen, a shared living room and a shared 
bathroom (W.C. and shower).  Bedroom 1 has its own shower.  Bedroom 
3 has its own ensuite.  Bedroom 4 is to the rear of the ground floor of the 
building, within the single storey rear extension.  It is a larger bedroom 
with a small kitchenette, with its own, at grade, access from rear patio 
doors and its own bathroom.  This room has been made available for 
people with physical disabilities.

The first floor accommodates 6 bedrooms and a shared bathroom.  One 
of the bedrooms has an ensuite.  A fire escape door in the rear of the 
first floor leads to a railed ‘walkway’ that is located on top of the single 
storey rear extension.  The escape leads into the rear garden area.

At the time of the case officer’s second visit to the building, there were 
four rooms in use.  Each bedroom is served by its own window providing 
outlook and ventilation.  Two of the first-floor bedrooms (7 & 8) have 
windows that face towards Maxton Court.  The kitchen area contains a 
cooker, microwave, washing machine and sink with space for kitchen 
units.  The living room has tables and chairs.  The rear garden area has 
space for sitting out and clothes drying.  There appears to be sufficient 
space along the side access or in the front garden area for communal 
refuse and recycling bins.  Parking could be accommodated on the front 
garden area for 3-4 cars.

The application building falls within the Dover urban area within a mainly 
residential section of the road, comprising detached and semi-detached 
buildings (including flats) on the southern side of Folkestone Road and 

13



1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

1.11

1.12

1.13

two-storey terraced housing on the opposite side of the road.  Further 
west there are some commercial uses including a ‘take away’, car 
showroom and vehicle repairs and servicing business.  The main town 
centre and additional commercial uses are located further east of the 
application site, along Folkestone Road.  There are bus stops in close 
proximity to the application site providing ease of access to facilities in 
Dover town centre and beyond.

The proposal is to provide sleeping and some shared/communal 
accommodation for temporary homeless, adult male occupiers.  
Although 10 bedrooms are proposed (and shown on the plans) one will 
be used by a permanent on-site manager.  As such, the total number of 
temporary homeless occupiers will be 9.

The potential occupiers will be housed solely through Dover District 
Council on a temporary basis as a ‘holding’ facility while more suitable 
and permanent accommodation is found for the occupiers.  It is not 
expected that occupiers will remain at the facility for more than a month, 
although a physically disabled occupier (of bedroom 4) may take longer 
to accommodate in new premises due to their specific requirements.

The on-site manager is expected to be able to regulate/monitor how the 
rooms and the premises are used.

The property will have internal HD CCTV for all the shared areas, which 
can be accessed by the Client Management Team and Out of Hours 
Team through tablets.  In the event of any concerns, the applicant 
(Paramount) has officers placed locally that can respond to assist with 
any problems residents may have, twenty four hours a day, seven days 
a week.

The applicant’s properties are supported by dedicated responsive, 
repairs resources.  The applicant has its own fleet of vehicles and DIY 
staff, each boasting ‘Paramount’s’ livery with all staff wearing 
Paramount’s uniform and ID.  The applicant considers that they are able 
to address any disrepair issue quickly and professionally.

It is unlikely that occupiers will have their own cars, but parking is 
available for the on-site manager (who has not yet been appointed) and 
maintenance staff.

No external alterations to the building are proposed.

2. Main Issues

2.1 The main issues are:

 The principle of the development
 The impact upon the character and appearance of the area
 The impact upon residential amenity

14



2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

Principle of Development

The application site falls within the urban area of Dover.  As such, under 
Policy DM1, the change of use of the building is acceptable in principle. 

Impact upon Character and Appearance

The building has a history of being in different residential uses. The 
proposed change of use seeks to retain the residential accommodation 
provided within the building although this will be of a different character 
to the previous uses.  The proposal for an HMO within the context of the 
wider residential area would be appropriate to its residential character.  

It is considered that with 9 well equipped bedrooms for occupiers, some 
shared rooms and an on-site manger’s room, the proposed use will not 
be over-intensive for the building, and its layout is not subdivided so as 
to cram occupiers into the building - to maximise accommodation.  

The number of temporary occupiers would be limited to 9 male adults.

In terms of how the HMO use would integrate with the residential area, 
there do not appear to be other similar uses within the immediate area 
that might give rise to an accumulation of similar uses so as to change 
the overall character of the area.

The application building already has a history of vehicles coming and 
going, staff and visitor parking and a degree of ‘commercial’ activity 
around either the care home or the guest house uses.  

It is concluded therefore that the nature of the proposed use and the 
degree of comings and goings of staff personnel and visitors and general 
activity around the building, which are comparable with the previous 
uses, are not likely to have a material impact upon the established 
character and appearance of the area.

There are no external changes to the appearance of the building or the 
front parking area and as such it is not considered that the proposal 
would materially impact the appearance of the street scene.

Residential Amenity

In response to the incidents reported through the public representations 
in this report, the applicant has stated that these occurred when there 
were 4 occupiers and no on-site manager.  The building, with 4 
occupiers, had not (at that stage) reverted to an HMO.  The on-site 
manager is expected to regulate the level of comings and goings and in-
house behaviour.  There will be no care element to the use and the most 
likely visitors are those with the Council or other agencies, including the 
Police, to check on the welfare of the occupiers and to discuss the next 
stages and options for accommodation. The applicant states that it is 
their experience that a live-in Scheme Manager immediately brings to 
an end any occurrences of anti-social behaviour that could otherwise 
arise.  These could be things such as a particular occupant’s tv or radio 
being too loud, or losing their key and being locked outside, or any noise 
nuisance or disturbance later in the evening. A permanent and 

15



2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

experienced on-site presence is considered to be a highly effective way 
of making the building work in harmony with the local community along 
with their partners in the Housing Team at the Council.

The proposal is not for an ‘open’ HMO use but for a more regulated, 
restricted use of the building.  The proposed planning conditions, set out 
later in this report, would ensure that the HMO use is not an ‘open’ HMO 
use where tenants would stay indefinitely and without on site 
management of their behaviour.

The involvement of Dover Housing Team, in placing only locally based 
temporarily homeless people in the building, should help regulate the 
use of the building.  The building would not be available to non-Dover 
Council homeless clients.

It is recognised that the initial use of the building earlier this year has 
given rise to a degree of noise and disturbance, anti-social behaviour, 
intimidation and fear of crime; however, it is expected that opportunities 
for such incidences will be properly addressed by the on-site 
management arrangements.  The comments of the Housing Options 
Team regarding the effectiveness of the applicant’s operations provides 
a degree of comfort that the use of the building will be regulated. 

In a relatively busy location, comparable with say, a backwater location 
along a side road, with pedestrians and vehicles in regular use of the 
footway and carriageway and in proximity to the town centre, it is not 
considered that the comings and goings of occupiers will be noticeable 
or material in the context of the location of the site.  Neither is it 
considered that the levels of activity with visitors and staff coming and 
going would be materially more than with the previous guest house and 
care homes uses.  As such, it is not considered that the levels of activity 
arising from the proposed use would be unduly harmful to the living 
conditions of the occupiers of nearby residential properties.

The submission of a Management Plan, which has been a Council 
requirement for other similar uses in Dover, could be a requirement of 
this planning permission, where there is an agreed and approved 
protocol for dealing with the management of the premises, neighbour 
complaints and the incidents that might arise.  This should help address 
any perceived on-going problems or the reasons behind incidents that 
may have taken place.

Whilst inevitably this proposal, on its face, will attract concern and 
anxiety, it is the view of the officers that the facility will be well run in co-
operation with the Dover Housing Team – and the applicant has a track 
record in doing this.

The small rear garden of the application property adjoins the rear parking 
courtyard of Maxton House, which did not at the time of the officer’s visit 
appear to have informal sitting out areas.  Therefore, it is unlikely that 
activity in the rear garden of the application site will materially affect the 
living conditions of the occupiers of these flats.

It is also considered that the presence of two bedroom windows facing 
toward the side elevation of Maxton Court and toward its windows, would 

16



2.19

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

2.24

3.

3.1

not give rise to undue overlooking or loss of privacy, due partly to the 
fact that these windows already exist and have served 
bedrooms/habitable rooms in the application building and partly because 
the windows are slightly off-set, which prevents direct inter-visibility.

In conclusion, it is considered that the living conditions of the occupiers 
of nearby residents would not be unduly harmed and should be suitably 
safeguarded through the imposition of planning conditions.

Other Matters

The building will provide a stepping stone for its occupiers to be placed 
in more permanent and suitable accommodation.

The housing provision will help meet a shortage in accommodation for 
temporary homeless persons.

The use will enable a degree of social interaction between different 
groups in the community.

There is unlikely to be high demand for on street parking from the 
potential occupiers of the building due to their homelessness and the on-
site provision of 3-4 parking spaces.  

Refuse and recycling facilities could be adequately accommodated on 
site.

Conclusion

The proposal needs to be weighed in the balance.  In view of the need 
for the type of accommodation proposed, the support for the application 
from the Council’s Housing Options team, the recognised track record of 
the applicant and the proposed operations and management of the 
building it is considered that any harm arising from the scheme would be 
moderate whilst the benefits of the scheme would be significant.  As 
such, the proposal is supported as a sustainable form of development. 

g)
Recommendation

I PERMISSION BE GRANTED with the imposition of the following 
conditions:

i) 3 year time limit to commence development ii) The layout of the 
building to be in accordance with the submitted drawings iii) the use of 
the building to be limited to up to 9 residents (not including the onsite 
manager) at any one time iv) The front garden of the site shall be kept 
available for up to 3 parking spaces as such thereafter v) the provision 
of refuse and recycling facilities shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority, and retained as such thereafter.vi) 
The fire escape staircase to the rear of the building shall only be used in 
times of emergency and not as a day to day means to access or egress 
the building vii) the flat roof area of the single storey rear extension shall 
not be used for sitting out or for any other recreational purpose, and shall 
only be accessed for the purposes of maintaining the roof, windows and 
fire escape door viii) a Management Plan shall be submitted to and 

17



approved in writing by the local planning authority before the use first 
commences. The Management Plan shall set out how the applicant will 
partner with the Council’s Housing Options Team and identify measures 
and a timetable to mitigate harm and address any complaints from local 
residents; it shall include having 24 hour on-site supervision by at least 
one member of staff; arrangements for holding meetings with local 
residents when required; monitoring how the use adapts to the local 
environment, and; directing staff, visitors and deliveries to park on site 
at the front of the property. Once approved, the Management Plan shall 
be implemented in full and operated for the duration of the use hereby 
approved. ix) The premises shall not be open to visitors (they shall not 
gain access to the premises) outside the following hours, on any day: 
0800 hours to 2100 hours.

II Powers be delegated to the Head of Planning, Regeneration and 
Development to settle any necessary wording in line with the 
recommendations and as resolved by the Planning Committee.

Case Officer

Vic Hester

18



19

Agenda Item No 7



a) DOV/19/01131 – Change of use and conversion into a residential dwelling, with 
associated works - Old Tractor Shed, Langdon Avenue, Ash

Reason for report: Number of contrary views (6).

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be granted.

c) Planning Policies and Guidance

Core Strategy Policies 

 CP1 – The location and scale of development in the District must comply with the 
Settlement Hierarchy.

 CP6 – Development which generates a demand for infrastructure will only be 
permitted if the necessary infrastructure to support it is either in place, or there is a 
reliable mechanism to ensure that it will be provided at the time it is needed.

 DM1 - Development will not be permitted outside of the settlement confines, unless 
it is specifically justified by other development plan policies, or it functionally 
requires such a location, or it is ancillary to existing development or uses.

 DM4 – Re-use or Conversion of Rural Buildings – Permission will be given for the 
re-use or conversion of structurally sound, permanent buildings within Rural 
Service Centres, Local Centres and in Villages for commercial, community or 
private residential uses. Beyond the confines of Rural Service Centres, Local 
Centres and Villages permission will be given for re-use or conversion of such 
buildings for private residential use in buildings that are adjacent to the confines.

 DM11 – Development that would generate high levels of travel will only be 
permitted within the urban areas in locations that are, or can be made to be, well 
served by a range of means of transport.

 DM15 - Development which would result in the loss of, or adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the countryside will not normally be permitted.

 DM16 - Generally seeks to resist development which would harm the character of 
the landscape, unless it is in accordance with a Development Plan designation and 
incorporates mitigation measures, or can be sited to avoid or reduce the harm 
and/or incorporates design measures to mitigate the impacts to an acceptable 
level.

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

 Paragraph 2 states that “planning law requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise”. 

 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that there are three dimensions to sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental. These three overarching 
objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued in a mutually supportive 
way. 

20



 Paragraph 11 states that where development accords with an up-to-date 
development plan it should be approved without delay; or where there are no 
relevant policies or the most important policies for the determination of the 
application are out of date, then also granting consent. Where there is a clear 
reason for refusing the proposed development due to conflict with an area/asset of 
particular importance (as identified in the framework); and/or where any adverse 
impacts of granting permission significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when taking the Framework as a whole, then planning permission should 
be refused. 

 Paragraph 12 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point 
for decision making. 

 Paragraph 47 ‘Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as 
quickly as possible, and within statutory timescales unless a longer period has 
been agreed by the applicant in writing’. 

 Chapter nine of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport. 

 Chapter twelve seeks to achieve well-designed places, with the creation of high 
quality buildings and places being fundamental to what planning and development 
process should achieve. 

 Chapter fifteen requires that the planning system contributes to and enhances the 
natural and local environment, by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside, protecting valued landscapes, geological conservation interests 
and soils, recognising the value of ecosystems, minimising impacts on, and where 
possible enhancing, biodiversity, preventing pollution and remediating 
contamination.

National Design Guide (2019)

Kent Design Guide

Ash Neigbourhood Development Plan (Draft for Reg14 Consultation)

d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/15/00569 - Prior approval for the conversion of an agricultural building to a 
dwelling. Prior approval required and refused.

DOV/15/00871 - Prior approval for the conversion of an agricultural building to a 
dwelling. Prior approval required and approved.

DOV/18/01367 - Application for permission in principle for residential development 
of between 2 and 9 dwellings. Refused.

e) Consultee and Third-Party Responses

Ash Parish Council – objected to the planning application for the following reasons:
- outside of village confines

21



- the access is at the end of an unadopted, very narrow, unmade road and is 
unsuitable for the additional residential traffic

- the overall curtilage of site with garden and parking also appears to be outside 
of the area allowed under permitted development

- the footprint is larger than the previously approved application

KCC Archaeology – views not received.

KCC PROW – no objection raised however a concern has been raised regarding 
the potential construction traffic affecting the footpath during the construction phase. 
Three informatives have been recommended to be attached to the permission. 

Southern Water – no objection raised. The initial investigations indicate that there 
are no public surface water sewers in the area to serve this development. 
Alternative means of draining surface water from this development are required. 
This should not involve disposal to a public foul sewer.

Public Representations

Five (5) letters of objection received in relation to the planning application raising 
the following matters:
- the footprint of the new dwelling is larger than the one approved under Class 

Q.
- 3 parking spaces would be excessive.
- further increase in traffic movement.
- no provision for main sewers and water collection
- unsuitable for further development
- unsuitable for heavy construction vehicles
- unadopted road inadequate to take any increase in traffic.

One (1) letter of support received in relation to the planning application and making 
the following comments:
- enough room for construction traffic
- would not affect access to the public footpath

f) 1. The Site and the Proposal

1.1 The site lies to the south of (albeit adjoining the settlement confines of) Ash, 
which is defined as a Local Centre by the development plan. The site is therefore 
within the defined countryside for the purposes of planning. It is accessed via 
Langdon Avenue (an unadopted private way) which joins New Street to the north 
of the site. Running along the north western boundary of the site is the Public 
Right of Way (PROW) EE110, which (in part) runs along Langdon Ave up to its 
junction with New St and extends south to Coombe Lane. 

1.2 The application property was formerly used for agricultural purposes. It forms 
part of an irregular shaped field of around 0.62ha. It has an existing access 
predominantly comprising the unmade surface of Langdon Avenue. The field is 
laid to unimproved grassland. The north eastern boundary of the site abuts the 
side boundary, defined by low fences, of properties (No.'s 8 and 9) which also 
front Langdon Avenue. To the southwest across the field is Whistlers Forstal, a 
two-storey detached dwelling, and its curtilage. This fronts PROW EE110 and 
has vehicle access from coombe Lane.

22



1.3 The application seeks permission for the change of use and conversion into a 
residential dwelling. It is relevant to note that the application property was 
granted prior approval under Schedule 2, Part 3, Class Q of the GPDO 2015 
(DOV/15/00871) to be converted to a dwelling. The works had commenced 
however, the applicant failed to complete the approved works within 3 years from 
the date of the decision. The permission lapsed in October 2018. Therefore, the 
existing building subject of this application no longer benefits from the provisions 
of Class Q. The current application seeks to extend the footprint of the existing 
building and finish it to a higher standard than was previously approved. The 
proposed dwelling would be finished in timber cladding and dark grey plain 
render with a black fibre glass roof (flat root) and cement fibre cladding to the 
pitched roof.

2. Main Issues

2.1 The main issues for consideration are:
 The principle of the development
 The impact on the character and appearance of the area
 The impact on residential amenity
 The impact on Highways

Assessment

Principle of Development

2.2 The starting point for decision making, in accordance with Section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, is the adopted development plan. Decisions should 
be taken in accordance with the policies in such plans, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. However, notwithstanding the primacy of the 
development plan, paragraph 11 of the NPPF 2019 states that where the policies 
which are most important for determining the application are out of date 
(including where the LPA cannot demonstrate a five year housing land supply or 
where the LPA has ‘failed’ the Housing Delivery Test), permission should be 
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the polices in the 
NPPF taken as a whole (known as the ‘tilted balance’) or where specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate that development should be restricted. 

2.3 Having regard for the most recent Annual Monitoring Report 2018/19, the Council 
are currently able to demonstrate a five-year supply and the Council have not 
‘failed’ the Housing Delivery Test. It is considered that the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are DM1, DM11, DM15 and DM16.

2.4 Policy DM1 and the settlement confines referred to within the policy were devised 
with the purpose of delivering 505 dwellings per annum in conjunction with other 
policies for the supply of housing in the Council’s 2010 Adopted Core Strategy. 
In accordance with the Government’s standardised methodology for calculate 
the need for housing, the council must now deliver 629 dwellings per annum. As 
a matter of judgement it is considered that policy DM1 is in tension with the 
NPPF, is out-of-date and, as a result, of this should carry only limited weight.

2.5 Policy DM11 seeks to locate travel generating development within settlement 
confines and restrict development that would generate high levels of travel 
outside confines. Whilst there is some tension, this policy broadly accords with 

23



the NPPF’s aim to actively manage patterns of growth to support the promotion 
of sustainable transport. However, for the purposes of this application which is 
adjacent to the confines of a Local Centre, the degree of harm arising from the 
infringement with Policy DM11 is considered to be very limited and as such would 
not be a matter on which the proposal could be found unacceptable in and of 
itself.

2.6 Policies DM15 and DM16 generally seeks to resist development that would result 
in the loss of, or adversely affect the character or appearance, of the countryside 
or would cause harm to the character of the landscape. However, these policies 
are broadly consistent with the aims of the NPPF including the need to: recognise 
the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, albeit the first part of DM15 
(which seeks to prevent the loss of countryside), should carry only limited weight 
as its blanket approach is out of step with the NPPF.

2.7 Whilst it is considered that policy DM1 is out-of-date, policies DM11, DM15 and 
DM16 are considered to be generally consistent with the NPPF. It is concluded 
however, given how critical Policy DM1 is for the determination of the principle 
of the development, that the ‘tilted balance’ should be engaged. As such, the 
application should be assessed in the context of granting development unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.

2.8 The proposal lies outside of settlement confines and is therefore contrary to 
policy DM1. The proposed change of use is supported by Policy DM4 which 
states that beyond the confines or rural service centres, local centres and 
villages, permission will be given for the re-use or conversion of structurally 
sound, permanent buildings where it is for commercial uses and for private 
residential use in buildings that are adjacent to the confines. The site lies directly 
adjacent to the confines and would therefore comply with policy DM4 of the Core 
Strategy, insofar as the reuse of the existing building is concerned. Further to 
this, paragraph 79 of the NPPF supports the development that would reuse 
redundant or disused buildings and enhance its immediate setting. In this 
instance, on balance, the principle of conversion is considered acceptable. 

 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Street Scene

2.9 The site is within a sensitive location, being within the countryside, where policy 
DM15 applies. This policy directs that planning permission for development that 
adversely affects the character or appearance of the countryside will only be 
permitted if it satisfies one of four criteria and the development would not result 
in the loss of ecological habitats. 

2.10 Regard should also be had to policy DM16 of the Core Strategy which generally 
seeks to resist development which would harm the character of the landscape, 
unless it is in accordance with a Development Plan designation and incorporates 
mitigation measures, or can be sited to avoid or reduce the harm and/or 
incorporates design measures to mitigate the impacts to an acceptable level.

2.11 The site lies to the southern side of Ash, to the south western side of New Street. 
The southern side of the village (beyond New Street) is sparsely developed. 

24



Dwellings typically take the form of linear development along New Street, 
although there are two short cul-de-sacs off New Street which diverge from this 
character.

2.12 Some views of the site are gained from Coombe Lane to the south. The road 
here is slightly lower than the application site, with a tree lined bank on the 
boundary with the road. However, the bank is not particularly high and the trees 
and low vegetation is sparse, such that some views of the site could still be 
gained. Clear views could also be gained through the existing access off 
Langdon Avenue. The site is also prominently visible from PROW EE110, which 
runs along the north western boundary of the site, with no intervening screening 
for a significant stretch. Finally, in longer views, the site is visible across the 
agricultural land to the south/south west from PROW EE114 however, this is over 
a considerable distance. 

2.13 The street scene of Langdon Avenue predominately consists of street fronting 
development along the southeastern side of Langdon Avenue constituting two 
storey detached and semi-detached dwellinghouses fronting the road. It is noted 
that to the northwest of Langdon Avenue, the development is scarce with only a 
couple of buildings fronting the road. It is acknowledged that the properties in the 
area do not conform to a particular architectural style with each property differing 
from the next. A mix of exterior finishes to the properties in the immediate area 
are noted which include plain render, painted brick, exposed brick work and 
timber weatherboarding.

2.14 The proposed development involves an extension to the existing building, which 
is single storey. The resultant design and form of development would not 
significantly differ from the existing situation although some hardstanding would 
be created for the parking of cars within the site frontage. The impacts resulting 
from the creation of hardstanding and other domestic paraphernalia could be 
softened by a high-quality landscaping scheme. This could be achieved by 
attaching a suitably worded condition. Having regard for the above, it is 
considered that the resultant impact from the proposed conversion could be 
adequately contained and as such would not cause harm to the character and 
appearance of the wider landscape. Therefore, the proposal would not be 
contrary to policies DM15 and DM16 of the Core Strategy and paragraph 170 of 
the NPPF.

  2.15 Regard has also been had to whether the siting and detailed design of the 
proposal would cause harm to the character and appearance of the street scene. 
It is noted that there is consistency in terms of the buildings being setback from 
Langdon Avenue. Nevertheless, the building is a current feature in the road, the 
retention and conversion of which would not appear unduly out of keeping.  
Further to this, it is recommended that a suitably worded condition be attached 
to remove the permitted development rights including Classes A (extensions), B 
(dormers/hip to gable extensions), and E (outbuildings). 

    2.16 Initially, the majority of the external facade of the dwelling was proposed to be 
finished in cement fibre boarding. The flat roof was proposed to be covered under 
cement fibre corrugated sheets. Concerns were raised regarding the visual 
impact caused by virtue of the extensive use of cement fibre cladding and use of 
corrugated roof covering. The applicant was forthcoming, and amended 
drawings were received which involved amendments to the elevations of the 
building including replacement of cement fibre cladding to a mixture of plain 
render and timber cladding. However, cement fibre boarding to a part of the 

25



northwest elevation is proposed to be retained. Whilst the material to this part of 
the elevation differs from the other elevations of the building, it would not be 
highly visible from Langdon Avenue by virtue of the existing close boarded fence 
along the northwest boundary of the site. Therefore, on balance it is considered 
acceptable.

 2.17 For the foregoing reasons, the proposed conversion of an existing redundant 
building would provide some enhancement to the appearance of the building and 
the surroundings and would be in accordance with paragraph 79 (c) of the NPPF. 
In conclusion, no harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene or 
the wider countryside would result from the proposal. 

Impact on Residential Amenity

 2.18 The nearest neighbouring property no.9 Langdon Avenue to the northeast lies at 
a distance of approximately 15m from the existing building. Having regard for the 
adequate separation distance and given the fact that the proposed development 
is single storey, it is not considered that the proposed conversion would cause 
sense of enclosure, loss of light, overshadowing or loss of privacy to the 
neighbouring occupiers of no.9. 

 2.19 There are no other residential properties in the vicinity to be directly affected by 
the proposal.

Living Conditions of Future Occupiers

 2.20 The proposed dwelling, together with their individual rooms would be of a good 
size, whilst all habitable rooms would be naturally lit. It would be provided with a 
private garden and areas which could be used for refuge storage and general 
amenity space. As such, the living conditions of future occupiers would be 
acceptable.

Impact on Parking/Highways

  2.21 Table 1.1 of the Core Strategy suggests that a minimum of two independently 
accessible car parking spaces be provided for residents of the dwelling, together 
with an additional 0.2 spaces per dwelling for visitors, although parking should 
be a design-led process. The development would accommodate three open car 
parking spaces within the site, meeting the needs generated by the occupiers of 
the dwelling. Having regard for the above, the development is considered to 
provide sufficient car parking provision and would comply with policy DM13 of 
the Core Strategy. Third party concerns have been raised that too much parking 
has been proposed; however, the provision of 3 spaces where the Core Strategy 
requires a minimum of 2.2 spaces is not considered to be unreasonable or 
excessive.

 2.22 The development does not include any defined provision of cycle parking spaces. 
In accordance with the recommendations of the Kent Design Guide (including 
Interim Guidance Note 3) and the NPPF, and to encourage and facilitate the use 
of this sustainable form of transport, it is considered that details for the provision 
of cycle parking (at one space per bedroom) should be secured by condition.

 2.23 Third party representations raised concerns regarding the increase in traffic in 
Langdon Avenue. It is also relevant to note that a previous application for 
permission in principle for residential development of between 2 and 9 dwellings 
for a larger site (DOV/18/01367) adjoining the application site was refused on the 

26



grounds of highways safety. It was considered that Langdon Avenue was not 
suitable for additional vehicle movements (including those generated by two 
additional dwellings), and the junction formed by Langdon Avenue with New 
Street was considered to have substandard visibility. Therefore, given the 
number of dwellings proposed, the proposed development was considered to 
cause unacceptable impacts on highway safety, contrary to paragraph 109 of the 
NPPF and was therefore refused. Members will note that the current proposal is 
for one dwelling and that the site received permission (prior approval) for the 
conversion of the existing building to a dwelling whilst the previously refused 
scheme was for between 2 and 9 dwellings. An informal discussion has been 
had with the KCC Highways in this regard and they have advised that whilst 
Langdon Avenue is not suitable for additional traffic, the creation of one dwelling 
is not considered to cause significant impact on the transport network (in terms 
of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety or result in a severe cumulative 
impact (relevant tests in the NPPF paragraphs 108 and 109). For the foregoing 
reasons, on balance, the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of highways 
impact.

 2.24 KCC PROW have raised no objection but have raised a concern regarding the 
potential construction traffic affecting the footpath during the construction phase. 
It is considered that access and parking for construction-related vehicles can be 
dealt with through a construction management plan which should include routing 
of construction and delivery vehicles to/ from site; parking and turning areas for 
construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel; timing of deliveries; 
provision of wheel washing facilities; temporary traffic management/signage. In 
the event that the permission is granted, a suitably worded condition would be 
attached to the permission. 

Archaeology

 2.25 The application site lies in an area with archaeological potential. The proposal is 
for the conversion of an existing building albeit a small additional extension to 
the existing building has been proposed. Given the fact that the proposed 
extension is single storey, it is likely to have shallow foundations. Furthermore, 
the hardstanding proposed would not require excavation to a significant depth. 
In conclusion the proposed works are unlikely to impact upon heritage assets of 
archaeological interest. Consequently, it is not considered reasonable to require 
an archaeological watching brief in this instance. 

Ecology

 2.26 Having regard for Natural England’s Standing Advice, it is not considered that 
the site includes any features likely to provide habitat for protected or notable 
species.

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, Regulation 63:  
Appropriate Assessment

 2.27 All impacts of the development have been considered and assessed. It is 
concluded that the only aspect of the development that causes uncertainty 
regarding the likely significant effects on a European Site is the potential 
disturbance of birds due to increased recreational activity at Sandwich Bay and 
Pegwell Bay.

 2.28 Detailed surveys at Sandwich Bay and Pegwell Bay were carried out in 2011, 
2012 and 2018. However, applying a precautionary approach and with the best 

27



scientific knowledge in the field, it is not currently possible to discount the 
potential for housing development within Dover district, when considered in-
combination with all other housing development within the district, to have a likely 
significant effect on the protected Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and 
Ramsar sites.

 2.29 Following consultation with Natural England, the identified pathway for such a 
likely significant effect is an increase in recreational activity which causes 
disturbance, predominantly by dog-walking, of the species which led to the 
designation of the sites and the integrity of the sites themselves.

 2.30 The Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar Mitigation Strategy was 
agreed with Natural England in 2012 and is still considered to be effective in 
preventing or reducing the harmful effects of housing development on the sites.

2.31 Given the limited scale of the development proposed by this application, a 
contribution towards the Councils Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and 
Ramsar Mitigation Strategy will not be required as the costs of administration 
would negate the benefit of collecting a contribution. However, the development 
would still be mitigated by the Thanet Coast and Sandwich Bay SPA and Ramsar 
Mitigation Strategy as the Council will draw on existing resources to fully 
implement the agreed Strategy.

Drainage

 2.32 The site lies within Flood Risk Zone 1, where there is the lowest risk of flooding. 
However, given the size of the site, it is appropriate to consider whether the 
development would be likely to lead to localised on or off-site flooding. The 
NPPF, paragraph 163, states that local planning authorities should ensure that 
flooding is not increased elsewhere and priority should be given to the use of 
sustainable drainage systems. In furtherance to this, the Planning Practice 
Guidance states that sustainable drainage systems should be designed to 
control surface water run-off close to where it falls and replicate natural drainage 
as closely as possible.

 2.33 Concerns have been raised by third parties regarding foul drainage provision. 
Whilst Southern Water have raised no objection in this instance, it is considered 
reasonable to attach the pre-commencement conditions requiring the 
submission of detailed schemes for both foul water and surface water disposal. 
In the case of the former, Southern Water have advised that their initial 
investigation indicates there is no public sewer available into which the 
development could connect. National Planning Policy Guidance refers in such 
circumstances to other solutions, including the use of a septic tank. In any event, 
having regard for the above and subject to appropriately worded conditions, it is 
considered that these matters can be suitably addressed.

Other Material Considerations

 2.34 The NPPF states that achieving sustainable development means that the 
planning system has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and 
need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. Therefore, the assessment of 
sustainability can be separated into three dimensions: social, economic and 
environmental.

 2.35 The proposed development would provide a short term and very modest 
economic benefit, by providing employment during the construction phase. 

28



 2.36 With regards to the social role, it is considered that the proposal would enhance 
the environment together with providing a family home in the village.

 2.37 Turning to the environmental role, by virtue of its siting and detailed design, it is 
not considered that the proposal would result in a localised urbanising effect to 
the rural character of the area. No wider landscape impact is envisaged from the 
proposal. The application site abuts the settlement confines of Ash and has fairly 
good access to the public transport and facilities and services in Ash such that it 
would be likely to provide additional support for those facilities and services. 
Therefore, it would be in keeping with the sustainable travel objectives of the 
NPPF and objectives relating to supporting community facilities. 

 2.38 In conclusion, taking the above facts in the round, it is considered that the 
proposed dwelling would lie in a sustainable location and would not result in any 
adverse impacts. As such, the proposal would support the sustainability 
principles of the NPPF. 

3. Conclusion

3.1 It is concluded that no harm would arise in respect of the character and 
appearance of the area or wider countryside. It would not cause harm to the 
residential amenity of the neighbouring occupiers. It is considered acceptable in 
terms of highways impact and drainage. Having regard for the above, it is 
recommended that the application be approved.

g) Recommendation

  I PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to conditions which include:

(i) 3-year time limit (ii) Approved plans (iii) samples of materials (iv) provision of 
parking facilities (v) measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 
highway (vi) use of bound surface for the first 5m of the access from the edge of 
Langdon Avenue (vii) cycle parking details (viii) bin storage (ix) completion of 
access prior to first use (xiii) removal of PD rights (classes A, B and E) (xvi) 
construction management plan (xix) Surface water disposal scheme (xx) foul 
water drainage scheme (xxiii) submission of a landscaping scheme (xxiv) 
boundary treatments and hard surfacing materials. 

II Powers to be delegated to the Head of Planning, Regeneration and Development 
to settle any necessary planning conditions in line with the issues set out in the 
recommendation and as resolved by the Planning Committee. 

 
Case Officer

Benazir Kachchhi

29



30

Agenda Item No 8



a) DOV/19/00969 – Extension to stable block and installation of six 3-metre  
lighting columns - 50 Mill Lane, Shepherdswell

Reason for report: Number of contrary views (6).

b) Summary of Recommendation

Planning permission be granted.

c) Planning Policies and Guidance

Core Strategy Policies 

 CP1 – The location and scale of development in the District must comply with the 
Settlement Hierarchy.

 CP6 – Development which generates a demand for infrastructure will only be 
permitted if the necessary infrastructure to support it is either in place, or there is a 
reliable mechanism to ensure that it will be provided at the time it is needed.

 DM1 - Development will not be permitted outside of the settlement confines, unless 
it is specifically justified by other development plan policies, or it functionally 
requires such a location, or it is ancillary to existing development or uses.

 DM11 – Development that would generate high levels of travel will only be 
permitted within the urban areas in locations that are, or can be made to be, well 
served by a range of means of transport.

 DM15 - Development which would result in the loss of, or adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the countryside will not normally be permitted.

 DM16 - Generally seeks to resist development which would harm the character of 
the landscape, unless it is in accordance with a Development Plan designation and 
incorporates mitigation measures, or can be sited to avoid or reduce the harm 
and/or incorporates design measures to mitigate the impacts to an acceptable 
level.

 Policy DD21 states that horse-related development will be granted provided:
- it provides for the safety and comfort of horses in terms of the size of 

accommodation and land for grazing and exercising;
- ease of access to suitable riding country can be demonstrated; 
- buildings are of a high standard of design and construction and they, together 

with the related equestrian activities, do not adversely affect the character or 
appearance of the countryside or areas of historic environment;

- where possible, existing buildings should be converted for such use in 
preference to the erection of new buildings but where new buildings are 
required these should be sited to relate visually to existing buildings; and

- the amenities of nearby residents are not adversely affected. Conditions may 
be imposed requiring jumps to be removed when not in use and for buildings 
or structures to be removed when the use ceases. Conditions may also be 
imposed to limit the number of horses on the site.

31



National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (NPPF) 

 Paragraph 2 states that “planning law requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise”. 

 Paragraph 8 of the NPPF states that there are three dimensions to sustainable 
development: economic, social and environmental. These three overarching 
objectives are interdependent and need to be pursued in a mutually supportive 
way. 

 Paragraph 11 states that where development accords with an up-to-date 
development plan it should be approved without delay; or where there are no 
relevant policies or the most important policies for the determination of the 
application are out of date, then also granting consent. Where there is a clear 
reason for refusing the proposed development due to conflict with an area/asset of 
particular importance (as identified in the framework); and/or where any adverse 
impacts of granting permission significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when taking the Framework as a whole, then planning permission should 
be refused. 

 Paragraph 12 states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
does not change the statutory status of the development plan as the starting point 
for decision making. 

 Paragraph 47 ‘Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be 
determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as 
quickly as possible, and within statutory timescales unless a longer period has 
been agreed by the applicant in writing’. 

 Chapter nine of the NPPF seeks to promote sustainable transport. 

 Chapter twelve seeks to achieve well-designed places, with the creation of high 
quality buildings and places being fundamental to what planning and development 
process should achieve. 

 Chapter fifteen requires that the planning system contributes to and enhances the 
natural and local environment, by recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside, protecting valued landscapes, geological conservation interests 
and soils, recognising the value of ecosystems, minimising impacts on, and where 
possible enhancing, biodiversity, preventing pollution and remediating 
contamination.

 National Design Guide (2019)

 Kent Design Guide

d) Relevant Planning History

DOV/97/00309  Erection of a Conservatory – retrospective. Granted. 

32



DOV/16/01145 Erection of a two storey side extension and detached double garage 
- Granted.

DOV/16/01479 – Change of use of land for the keeping of horses, erection of 10 no. 
stables, hay store and tack room, and construction of a manège. Granted.

e) Consultee and Third-Party Responses

DDC Environmental Health Manager – no observations.

KCC Archaeology – views not received.

Environment Agency – low environmental risk.

Shepherdswell Parish Council – object to the planning application.

Public Representations: 

23 letters of support received in relation to the planning application and making the 
following comments:
- Provide extra storage facilities.
- There is sufficient grazing area for the horses.
- The stables are screened by existing hedgerows and trees.
- The proposed lights are angled downwards and not cause light pollution.
- The lighting will make the riding area safer for the horses being worked around 

their owners work schedules.
- The lights for the sand school is a necessity for the horse owners.
- The business is very helpful to the local community as manure is given to the 

local farmer to be used for his crop.

5 letters of objection received raising the following matters:
- Lighting will be invasive and cause light pollution.
- Grazing land is inadequate for so many horses.
- The roads are busy and increasing steadily, not safe.
- Deposition of waste.
- More traffic into the village.

1. The Site and the Proposal

1.1 The site comprises a detached brick and tile two storey dwelling which is of mid-
twentieth construction. The house sits well back from the road within a large plot 
and has a large terraced area to the rear. There is a large area of gravel hard 
standing in the northern corner of the plot that serves as a parking and turning 
area. The garden area is extensive. Aside from a temporary fence, this area of 
land reads as being within the curtilage of Deerleap, which appears to have 
occurred over the passage of time.

1.2 The applicants also own a significant area of land to the rear and to the north of 
the site, which is shown as ‘blue land’ on the planning application. The site lies 
at the extreme end of Shepherdswell on the edge of the open countryside with 
the land sloping North West to South East and towards the rear of the site. There 
is an existing hedge that runs along the side and rear boundary of the application 
site, although this is thin in parts. It is noted that trees that were previously along 
this boundary have been cut down in the recent past.

33



1.3 The site lies within the open countryside, although not within any designated 
area. There are properties to the south-west of the application within Hazling 
Dane which were constructed in the mid-twentieth century. These properties are 
separated from the application site by Coldred Road, which they back on to – 
with close boarded fencing along its southern side.

1.4 To the north and west of the site are larger, detached properties, namely 
‘Downside’, ‘Linden’ and ‘Roundhill’ – all of which have sizeable set-backs from 
the highway. To the north and east of the application are open fields, and the 
land falls gently to both the north and east from the application site.

1.5 The application seeks permission for the extension of the stable block (2 stables 
and a hay store) and installation of 6no. 3m lighting columns along the perimeter 
of the sand school.

2. Main Issues

2.1 The main issues for consideration are:
 The principle of the development
 The impact on the character and appearance of the area
 The impact on residential amenity
 The impact on Highways

Assessment

Principle of Development

2.2 The site lies outside the settlement confines and, for the purposes of planning, it 
is therefore considered to be within the countryside. According to Policy DM1, 
development will not be permitted on land outside the urban boundaries and rural 
settlement confines as shown on the proposals map unless specifically justified 
by other development plan policies, or it functionally requires such a location, or 
it is ancillary to existing development or uses. Equine development within the 
rural areas is supported by Policy DD21 (saved policy) of the Dover Local Plan 
subject to a number of criteria being met. These are:
I. it provides for the safety and comfort of horses in terms of the size of 

accommodation and land for grazing and exercising;
II. ease of access to suitable riding country can be demonstrated;
III. buildings are of a high standard of design and construction and they, 

together with the related equestrian activities, do not adversely affect the 
character or appearance of the countryside or areas of historic 
environment;

IV. where possible, existing buildings should be converted for such use in 
preference to the erection of new buildings but where new buildings are 
required these should be sited to relate visually to existing buildings; and

V. the amenities of nearby residents are not adversely affected.

2.3 The principle of development has been established by the grant of previous 
permission (DOV/16/01479) for the change of use of land for the keeping of 
horses, erection of 10 no. stables, hay store and tack room, and construction of 
a manège.

 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Street Scene

34



2.4 Regard has been had to the policies DM15 and DM16 of the Core Strategy which 
seeks to protect the character of the countryside, and states that development 
will only be permitted where there would be no harm to its character and that 
development should only take place where a rural location is justified.

2.5 The application site is surrounded by open countryside to the northeast and 
southeast. The current application is for the erection of two stables and a hay 
store and would extend the existing stable block by approximately 14.5m. It is 
also proposed to install 6no. 3m lighting columns along the perimeter of the sand 
school which would only operate between 4pm to 6pm from end of October to 
end of March. Having regard for the limited scale of the extension, it is not 
considered that it would cause harm to the character and appearance of the 
countryside. In respect of the impact from the installation of floodlights, they 
would be 3m high and would be concealed by virtue of the existing stable block 
and vegetative screening along the periphery of the site. Therefore, having 
regard for the lack of visibility from the wider countryside and the limited hours of 
operation (floodlighting), the proposal is considered acceptable in this instance. 
A suitably worded condition would be attached restricting the hours of use of the 
proposed floodlights.

2.6 Overall, the proposed development would not cause unacceptable harm to the 
character and appearance of the local and wider landscape. Therefore, the 
proposed development would be in accordance with policies DM15 and DM16 of 
the Core Strategy and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Impact on Residential Amenity

2.7 Criterion (v) of Policy DD21 requires that the impact upon residential amenity is 
considered when determining applications for equestrian use. Paragraph 17 of 
the NPPF also requires that all development take this into account. 

2.8 In this instance, the proposed development would be located a good distance 
from the existing properties, being approximately 80metres from the nearest 
property in Hazling Dane, and 150metres from the nearest property on Mill Lane. 
Having regard for the significant separation distances, it is not considered that 
the proposed development would cause harm to the residential amenity of the 
neighbouring occupiers.

2.9 The third-party representations received raise concerns with regards to the 
proposed floodlights. Environmental Health was consulted on this application 
and raised no objections to the proposal. Nevertheless, given the concerns 
raised by the neighbouring occupiers, it was initially suggested to the applicant 
that the flood lights be removed. However, following this request, a case was 
made that the lighting for the manege was essential for the expansion of the 
stables and has been proposed with a view to reduce the need for horse and 
rider to be out on poorly lit country roads.  Further to this, the applicant’s agent 
has confirmed that the flood lights would only be used between the end of 
October and end of March for a maximum of 2 hrs between 4-6pm. In light of 
this, a suitably worded hours of use condition would be attached to the 
permission to ensure that the hours of operation are adhered to. Furthermore, 
another condition is recommended to be attached requiring submission of details 
of the light diagrams demonstrating the degree of light spillage prior to the 
installation of the lighting columns.

35



Other Matters

2.10 Regard must also be had to the other criteria of Policy DD21 of the Core Strategy. 
The site area approximately measures 1.8 acres whilst it is understood that the 
applicant rents about 8.9 acres of land adjacent to the stables. The application 
proposes a stable block extension capable of accommodating 2 horses equalling 
12 horses in total. The site would provide just below an acre per horse. Whilst it 
is not strictly in accordance with the British Horse Society Guidelines which 
requires a provision of 1 acre of land per horse, on balance it is not considered 
that the modest under-provision of grazing land would cause significant 
‘planning’ harm. It is noted that the site has reasonable access to the bridleway 
network to the south of the site (point ii). Given the substantial distance from the 
residential properties, the amenities of neighbours would not be harmed (point 
v) as discussed within the section ‘Impact on Residential Amenity’ above. Points 
(iii) and (iv) have already been addressed under the section ‘Impact on Visual 
Amenity’.

Impact on Parking/Highways

2.11 Policy DM11 of the Core Strategy relates specifically to managing travel demand 
and generally seeks to resist development that would generate a need to travel 
outside of the settlement confines. In this instance, the existing stable block has 
10 stables and the proposed extension would result in a further addition of two 
stables. The applicants currently have a large area adjacent to the access that is 
being utilised for car parking and can accommodate about 10-12 cars on site. 
Furthermore, an increase of two stables (two horses) would be unlikely to 
generate significant additional vehicle movements. The development is also 
adjacent to confines and is supported by the saved policy DD21. In conclusion, 
the proposed development would not cause harm to the highway safety and 
would comply with Policy DM11 of the Core Strategy.

3. Conclusion

3.1 It is considered that this proposal complies with the local plan, Core Strategy and 
the objectives of the NPPF. There would be no significant impact upon the 
character and appearance of the locality, residential amenity, or the local 
highway network.

g) Recommendation

I PERMISSION BE GRANTED subject to conditions which include:

(i) 3-year time limit (ii) Approved plans (iii) lighting details (iv) restricted hours of 
use of the approved lighting.

II Powers to be delegated to the Head of Planning, Regeneration and Development 
to settle any necessary planning conditions in line with the issues set out in the 
recommendation and as resolved by the Planning Committee. 

 
Case Officer

Benazir Kachchhi

36


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	5 Items Deferred
	 ITEMS WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO PUBLIC SPEAKING
	Important Information
	Human Rights Information
	Public Speaking at Planning Committee

	6 Application No DOV/19/00291 - 337 Folkestone Road, Dover
	Folkestone Road Report

	7 Application No DOV/19/01131 - Old Tractor Shed, Langdon Avenue, Ash
	Old Tractor Shed Report

	8 Application No DOV/19/00969 - 50 Mill Lane, Shepherdswell
	Mill Lane Report


